I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. The Circuit Court's refusal to dismiss a West Virginia action violated principles 

of comity where the issues had already been joined in a Texas court. 

2. The Circuit Court erred in asserting subject matter jurisdiction where a Texas 

court was already exercising in rem or quasi in rem jurisdiction over the subject Trust. 

3. The Circuit Court erred in its application ofW. Va. Code § 56-I-Ia. 

4. The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment and denying a motion to 

alter or amend where (a) no discovery was undertaken regarding the Trust settlors' intent; (b) the 

moving party sought no relief against Petitioner; and (c) it misinterpreted the Trust. 

5. The Circuit Court erred by denying the Estate of Deborah Cortez's motion to 

intervene where it was adjudicating the rights of the Estate without affording it due process. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This litigation arises out of the William D. Short and Phyllis D. Short Revocable Trust 

including the Shelter Trust ("Trust").' The Respondent, Linda Murray, was the co-trustee with 

Deborah Cortez, the only child of William and Phyllis Short, after their death. On December 9, 

2011, however, Deborah Cortez, wife of Petitioner, Mateo Cortez ("Mr. CorteZ" or "Petitioner"), 

died intestate in Travis County, Texas. Linda Murray became the sole trustee of the Trust after 

the death of Deborah Cortez. Mateo Cortez was the surviving spouse and sole heir of the Estate 

of Deborah Cortez ("Estate of Deborah Cortez"). 

On August 28, 2014, Linda Murray, filed suit in Travis County, Texas, in her capacity as 

Successor Trustee against Mateo Cortez and others for conspiracy, statutory violations, 

I [App. at 000109-000122]. William D. Short died on January 3, 2002, in Travis County, Texas. 
Phyllis D. Short died on February 3, 2002, in Travis County, Texas. 



conversion, and negligence.2 In essence, Linda Murray alleged that Mateo Cortez wrongfully 

held trust funds and sought to marshal those alleged trust assets in the Texas litigation.3 

Importantly, Linda Murray conceded jurisdiction and venue were proper in the Texas 

Probate Court.4 

Subsequently, on June 30, 2015, the Estate of Deborah Cortez filed a petition to intervene 

in the case pending before the Texas Probate Court seeking a declaratory judgment regarding the 

distribution of the Trust to Mr. Cortez, the sole heir of the Estate of his late wife, Deborah 

Cortez.5 Ms. Murray filed a response in which she raised multiple pleas and affirmative 

defenses, but she did not challenge the jurisdiction of the Texas Probate Court. 6 

On September 9, 2015, Mr. Cortez filed an application for determination of heirship in 

the Texas Probate Court requesting to be appointed personal representative of the Estate of 

Deborah Cortez.7 On September 23, 2015, as the Trustee, Linda Murray filed her objection and 

opposition to issuance of letters of temporary administration, which challenged only the 

administration of the Estate of Deborah Cortez. II 

A substantial amount of discovery was conducted in the Texas matter. Linda Murray 

issued extensive written discovery regarding the assets of Mr. Cortez and his income for the past 

years. In addition, substantial discovery was conducted pertaining to the Trust and accounting 

2 [App. at 000081-000091]. 


3 [App. at 000081-000091]. 


4 [App. at 000082]. 


5 [App. at 000092-000097]. 


6 [App. at 001206-001211]. With respect to jurisdiction, however, Ms. Murray consented to the 

jurisdiction of that Court by seeking affirmative relief in the form of a summary judgment motion from 
the Texas Probate Court. [App. at 00137-00174]. 

7 [App. at 000175-000177]. 

8 [App. at 000178-000179]. 



matters for the time periods before Linda Murray was the sole Trustee. Further, a deposition was 

taken of Linda Murray regarding her knowledge of the Trust, her activities with respect to the 

Trust, and her claims under the Trust. 

On November 20, 2015, over a year after she had filed suit in a Texas court and 

almost five months after the Estate of Deborah Cortez had filed suit in a Texas court, Linda 

Murray, as Trustee, filed suit in West Virginia seeking, inter alia, declaratory judgment 

regarding distribution of the assets of the Trust that was already the subject of the Texas 

litigation.9 Critically, the Estate of Deborah Cortez was not made a party in West Virginia. 

Upon learning ofthe West Virginia suit the Texas Court granted a TRO preventing Linda 

Murray from distributing any Trust funds. 10 The Texas Court stated: 

Further, this Court finds that irreparable injury, loss, and damage will occur unless the 
Applicant's Temporary Restraining Order is granted. Plaintiff has filed suit in West 
Virginia to seek the distribution of the trust assets that are subject to the jurisdiction of 
the Court. 

9 [App. at 000010-000033]. In her complaint, Linda Murray sought the following relief: "That 
this Court enter an order directing the distribution of the assets of the Trust to those persons determined 
by this Court to be entitled to receive the same in such proportions as may be determined by this court to 
be proper and in conformity with the intent of the settlors of the Trust." [App. at 000032]. Just as in the 
declaratory judgment action filed by the Estate of Deborah Cortez in Texas, Linda Murray sought 
distribution of the Trust assets in the subsequently filed West Virginia litigation. [App. at 000010
000033]. Additionally, Linda Murray asserted the following regarding the Trust: 

Upon information and belief your Plaintiff avers that mesothelioma was the cause of the 
death of William D. Short. The Plaintiff became aware of the pending claims in the 
United States Bankruptcy Court for Texas which initially had been brought by William 
D. Short and/or his estate seeking appropriate compensation from those legally 
responsible for William D. Short's terminal mesothelioma. The Plaintiff, in her 
individual capacity and not as the trustee of the Trust, qualified as the dependent 
administrator of the William D. Short estate in Travis County, Texas; obtained the net 
proceeds of such claims, and after paying the costs of administration deposited those net 
proceeds in the Trust. The Plaintiff is advised by Texas counsel that some claims are still 
pending in Bankruptcy Court and that one or more payments in an unknown amount may 
be received on such claims at an unspecified future dates. 

[App. at 000028-000029]. Thus, at the time that Linda Murray's complaint was filed in West Virginia, 
there were Trust assets in Texas by way of pending claims in the United States Bankruptcy Court in 
Texas, as well as the Trust assets that Linda Murray alleged were in Mr. Cortez's possession. 

10 [App. at 000180-000182]. 



The hann done by issuing the injunctive relief herein does not outweigh the substantial 
loss to be caused by the continued improper acts of Plaintiff. Further, the injunctive 
relief granted herein does no more than restore the parties to the status as it existed prior 
to Plaintiffs actual and threatened improper conduct. Plaintiffs improper conduct is 
clearly actionable and the injunctive relief prayed for and granted is reasonably calculated 
to abate such conduct. II 

Additionally, at that time and at the insistence of Linda Murray, the Texas Court instructed 

counsel for the Estate of Deborah Cortez, to notify all contingent beneficiaries identified by the 

Trustee so that they may be joined to protect their interests. Pursuant to the Texas Court's 

instruction, counsel for the Estate filed the Estate's first amended petition in intervention and 

third-party petition on December 30, 2015, joining the alleged contingent beneficiaries. 

On March 7, 2016, several contingent beneficiaries filed a "Special Appearance" 

challenging the Texas Court's jurisdiction to join them in the Estate's declaratory judgment 

action. The "Special Appearance" did not raise any issue, however, regarding the Texas Court's 

jurisdiction to hear the Estate's declaratory judgment or its jurisdiction over the Trust and its 

assets. 

Additionally, Mr. Cortez moved to dismiss or stay the West Virginia action because the 

Trust was already the subject of the pending matter in the Probate Court of Travis County, 

TexasY Mr. Cortez's motion was denied by Order entered on March 16,2016.13 

On April 11, 2016, co-Defendant Connie Lou Keith Barry filed a motion for partial 

summary judgment seeking an Order from the West Virginia Court that Mr. Cortez was not 

II [App. at 000181]. 

12 [App. at 000060-000184]. 

13 [App. at 000462-000471]. 

http:16,2016.13


entitled to the Trust proceeds. 14 A hearing on the motion/or partial summary judgment was held 

on May 13,2016, and the Circuit Court took the motion under advisement. 1S 

On September 15, 2016, the Circuit Court heard Connie Lou Barry's motion to enter 

judgment. 16 At the conclusion of the hearing, the Circuit Court ruled that Mr. Cortez was not an 

heir of the Shorts, nor was he a beneficiary of the Trust and; therefore, Mr. Cortez was not 

entitled to the Trust assets. 17 Importantly, the Circuit Court did not rule that Deborah Cortez 

or her estate was not an heir of the Shorts, or a beneficiary of the Trust. 18 Because Deborah 

Cortez was an heir of her parents and was the only named individual beneficiary of the Trust 

and could not be subject to the Circuit Court's findings and rulings relating to Mr. Cortez as 

the Shorts' son-in-law, Mr. Cortez subsequently filed amotion to alter or amend. 19 

On September 28, 2016, the Probate Court of Travis County, Texas entered an Order 

denying the contingent beneficiaries "Special Appearance," thereby exercising jurisdiction 

over the parties and the Trust.20 As such, the Texas Court ruled that it had jurisdiction over all 

of the interested parties, including the Estate of Deborah Cortez, which was not a party in the 

West Virginia litigation, and various charitable organizations that were not a party in the West 

Virginia litigation.21 The next day, Mr. Cortez filed a motion to alter or amend asking the West 

Virginia Court to vacate its judgment based upon this new fact and other errors.22 

14 [App. at 000530-000554]. 


15 [App. at 002433-002460]. 


16 [App. at 002461-002480]. 


17 [App. at 002475-002476]. 


IS [App. at 002461-002480]. 


19 [App. at 000728-000757]. 


20 [App. at 000756-000757]. 


21 [App. at 000756-000757]. 


22 [App. at 000728-000757]. 
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On June 27, 2017, the Circuit Court heard Linda Murray's motion for summary judgment 

and Mateo Cortez's motion to alter or amend.23 Additionally, the Circuit Court heard Mr. 

Cortez's subsequent motion to dismiss and motion to intervene filed on behalf of the Estate of 

Deborah Cortez. The Estate of Deborah Cortez sought to join Mr. Cortez's motion to dismiss 

and respond to Linda Murray's motion for summary judgment.24 The Circuit Court denied, 

however, Mr. Cortez's motion to alter or amend, the subsequent motion to dismiss, as well as the 

Estate of Deborah Cortez's motion to intervene in the West Virginia proceedings.25 

In the Texas litigation, some of the identified necessary parties filed a motion for partial 

summary judgment as to two of the declaratory judgment actions raised by the Estate of Deborah 

Cortez.26 The motion was granted and, at the request of the identified necessary parties, the two 

declaratory judgment actions were severed from the rest of the original suit effectively creating a 

third suit between the parties.27 The original Texas suit is still pending before the Texas Probate 

Court and the severed suit is now pending in a Texas appellate court.28 

Mr. Cortez originally filed a notice of appeal on July 27, 2017, from the Circuit Court's 

order dated June 27, 2017, but the Circuit Court subsequently entered three orders on September 

19,2017, vacating its order of June 27, 2017; denying Mr. Cortez's motion to dismiss; denying 

the Estate of Deborah Cortez's motion to intervene; and denying Mr. Cortez's motion to alter or 

amend.29 It is from that set of orders that this appeal is being prosecuted. 

23 [App. at 002791-002837]. 


24 [App. at 002339-002343 and 002034-002337]. 


25 [App. at 003096-003097]. 


26 [App. at 001649-001700]. 


27 [App. at 001957-001958]. 


28 http://www.search.txcourts.gov/Case.aspx?cn==03-17 -00365-CV &coa=coa03 


29 [App. at 003098-003137]. 


http://www.search.txcourts.gov/Case.aspx?cn==03-17
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http:parties.27
http:Cortez.26
http:proceedings.25
http:judgment.24
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III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court's rulings in this case violate this Court's precedents regarding the 

principle of comity where there is preexisting litigation in another State involving the same 

subject matter and parties; are clearly contrary to precedents involving the exclusive jurisdiction 

of a State court where in rem or quasi in rem proceedings are involved; and misapply our forum 

non conveniens statute, particularly where the issues and parties were already joined in a Texas 

court. The Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment was erroneous where (a) no discovery 

was undertaken regarding the Trust settlors' intent; (b) the moving party sought no relief against 

Mr. Cortez; and (c) it misinterpreted the Trust. Finally, the Circuit Court's adjudication of the 

rights of the Estate of Deborah Cortez, a non-party, violated its rights to due process oflaw. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner respectfully submits that this case is suitable for oral argument under R. App. 

P. 20 before it is decided on the merits because this appeal involves substantial issues of public 

concern such as the principles of comity among sister jurisdictions and the exertion of 

jurisdiction by a West Virginia court over issues already pending in another State's court system. 

V.ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

With respect to the first assignment of error, the Circuit Court's misapplication of the 

principle of comity, the applicable standard of review is de novo.30 With respect to the second 

assignment of error, the Circuit Court's refusal to dismiss the West Virginia action due to lack of 

subject matter jurisdiction where a Texas court was already exercising in rem or quasi in rem 

30 See, e.g., Riffle v. c.J. Hughes Canst. Co., 226 W. Va. 581, 703 S.E.2d 552 (2010). 



jurisdiction, the applicable standard ofreview is de novo.31 With respect to the third assignment 

of error, the Circuit Court's misapplication of the forum non conveniens statute, the standard of 

review is abuse of discretion.32 With respect to the fourth assignment of error, the Circuit 

Court's entry ofsurnrnary judgment, the applicable standard of review is de novo.33 With respect 

to the final assignment of error, the Circuit Court's denial of the motion to intervene by the 

Estate of Deborah Cortez which effectuated an adjudication of its rights without due process, the 

applicable standard of review is abuse of discretion.J4 

B. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT'S REFUSAL TO DISMISS VIOLATED PRINCIPLES OF COMITY WHERE 

THE ISSUES HAD ALREADY BEEN JOINED IN A TEXAS COURT. 

W. Va. Code § 56-6-10 provides, "Whenever it shall be made to appear to any court, or 

to the judge thereof in vacation, that a stay of proceedings in a case therein pending should be 

had until the decision of some other action, suit or proceeding in the same or another court, such 

court or judge shall make an order staying proceedings therein, upon such terms as may be 

prescribed in the order. ,,35 This section of the Code, and its predecessors, applies when there are 

courts of the same or different states exercising jurisdiction over the same cause: 

Whether denominated reciprocity, comity or necessity, the principle is imperative, 
because [it is] essential to the orderly administration of justice. It avoids the 
conflict, confusion and imposition that inevitably may follow or result from the 
encroachment by one court upon the jurisdiction of coordinate tribunals assuming 
to act in the same matter, whether they be within the same or different state 
governments. Necessarily, any other course may, and often would, produce unjust 
if not disastrous results, rather than promote that justice which courts are ordained 
to administer.36 

31 See, e.g., Brooke B. v. Ray, 230 W. Va. 355,738 S.E.2d 21 (2013). 


32 See, e.g., State ex rei. Almondv. Rudolph, 238 W. Va. 289, 794 S.E.2d 10 (2016). 


33Sy1.pt.1,Painterv.Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d755 (1994). 


34 See, e.g., State ex rei. One-Gateway v. Johnson, 208 W.Va. 731,542 S.E.2d 894 (2000). 


3S W. Va. Code § 56-6-10. 


36 Whan v. Hope Natural Gas Co., 81 W.Va. 338, 342, 94 S.E. 365, 367 (1917) (brackets 

supplied). 
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"Comity is a court-created doctrine through which the forum court may give the laws or 

similar rights accorded by another state effect in the litigation in the forum state.,,37 Comity is a 

flexible doctrine that rests on several principles. 38 "One is legal harmony and uniformity among 

the co-equal states. A second, grounded on essential fairness, is that the rights and expectations 

of a party who has relied on foreign law should be honored by the forum state. Finally, and 

perhaps most important, the forum court must ask itself whether these rights are compatible with 

its own laws and public policy."39 

This Court has emphasized that comity is the solution to "the legal chaos that prevails in 

the United States as the result of fifty conflicting state jurisdictions . . . when there are 

proceedings on the same subject matter between the same parties" in different states.40 Many 

recognize that under the principles of comity. a state court may respect final decision of sister 

courts, as well as proceedings pending in those courtS.41 The primary value of comity "is to 

promote unitormity of decision by discouraging repeated litigation of the same question. ,,42 

Courts in other jurisdictions similarly have held that where a civil action concerning the 

same parties and the same subject matter has been commenced in another state capable of 

37 Pasquale v. Ohio Power Co., 187 W. Va. 292,300,418 S.E.2d 738, 746 (1992). 

38Id. 

391d. 

40 Berger v. Berger, 177 W.Va. 58, 58, 350 S.E.2d 685, 685 (1986); see also, Whan, supra at 341
42,94 S.E. at 366-67. 

41 Brightpoint, Inc. v. Pedersen, 930 N.E.2d 34, 39 (Ind. Ct. App. 20]0) (noting "[i]t is within the 
trial court's discretion to dismiss an action out of comity."): Medtronic, Inc. v. Advanced Bionics 
Corp., 630 N.W.2d 438, 449-51 (Minn. Ct. App. 2001) ("In deciding whether to defer to another court, a 
district court considers judicial economy, comity between courts, and the cost to and the convenience of 
the litigants; and must assess the possibility of multiple determinations of the same dispute."). 

42 Brightpoint, supra at 39. 
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providing relief. comity ordinarily should require staying or dismissal of the subject action filed 

. d'f:C 43In a 1 lerent state. For example, the Texas Courts have held:

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