RECORD NO. 17-0662 & 17-0942 
EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK 
S EALS 

VIRGINIA
IN THE 

SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS 

OF WEST VIRGINIA 


MATEO CORTEZ, individually and as representative of the Estate ofDeborah Cortez, 

Petitioner, 
vs. 

LINDA LOU MURRAY, in her capacity as successor trustee of the William D. Short and 
Phyllis D. Short Revocable Living Trust dated April 30, 1991, 

and 

CONNIE LOU KEITH BARRY; DONALD LEAMAN WHITED; MICHAEL RAY 
WHITED; SHERRY LYNN WHITED SALSBURY; SHEILA PETTRY, TYW ANNA 
PETTRY, and AMANDA PETTRY, heirs of Teresa Anette Whited Pettrey; TERRY LEE 
WHITED; BETTY JO MARKS; CHARLENE RAE FLESHER-JOHNSTON; JAMES

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

and the remaining Trust assets are to be distributed under Section C to the heirs at law ofMr. and 

Mrs. Short then living at the time of Deborah's death. 

Implicit in the Petitioner's argument is the bizarre idea that ''the Estate ofDeborah Cortez" 

is somehow an "heir at law" ofMr. or Mrs. Short. It is axiomatic that a dead person's estate is not 

an "heir at law" of a decedent. See Restatement (Third) of Property (Wills & Don. Trans.) § 1.2 

(1999) ("An individual who fails to survive the decedent cannot take as an heir or a devisee."). 

See also Lewis v. Green, 389 So.2d 235, 243 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) ("A person's right to share in 

the distribution of the corpus of the trust depends on his surviving until the trust terminates, and 

being within the class ofpersons described by the testator as persons eligible to take the corpus."). 

A decedent's "heirs at law" are his or her living descendants on the date their right to distribution 

vests. This is a basic and elementary concept ofdescent and distribution, and it is explicitly built 

into the Florida trust code: 

A future interest under the tenns of a trust is contingent upon the 
beneficiary surviving the distribution date. Unless a contrary intent 
appears in the trust instrument, if a beneficiary of a future interest 
under the tenns of a trust fails to survive the distribution date, and 
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the deceased beneficiary leaves surviving descendants, a substitute 
gift is created in the beneticiary's surviving descendants. They take 
per stirpes the property to which the beneficiary would have been 
entitled if the beneficiary had survived the distribution date. 

Fla. Stat. § 736.1106(2). The only exception is when a will or trust directly makes a disposition 

to an "estate" or "executor" of a deceased person. Restatement (Third) ofProperty (Wills & Don. 

Trans.) § 1.2 at cmt. g (1999) ("Although an individual who fails to survive the decedent cannot 

take as a devisee, a devise to the 'estate' or to the 'executor' ofa deceased person is valid."). The 

Trust instrument obviously makes no provision for "the Estate ofDeborah Cortez" or its executor. 

Cj App. at 109-22. Indeed, the Trust only provides for Deborah "during her life." App. at 112

13. The settlors obviously intended that "the heirs at law of William D. Short" and "the heirs at 

law of Phyllis D. Short" be determined as of the date of Deborah's death, when the Trust 

terminated and any remaining assets distributed. 

4. 	 The Petitioner's new argument that the Trust lapsed was waived below and is 
frivolous. The Trust instrument fully provides for the disposition of the Trust 
assets, and it would be both absurd and in violation of the rules of construction 
to interpret the Trust as ineffective for its intended purposes. 

Alternatively, the Petitioner now wants to argue that the Trust lapsed and that Mrs. Short 

failed to dispose ofher estate through her will, and therefore the Trust assets should have passed 

by intestacy to Deborah Cortez when Mrs. Short died. Pet'r Br. at 30-33. In other words, the 

Petitioner is now asking this Court to find, as a matter of law, that Mr. and Mrs. Short created a 

detailed estate planning scheme that was ineffective to actually accomplish their expressed intent. 

The Petitioner failed to raise this argument below and therefore waived it. 7 See Zaleski v. West 

Virginia Mut. Ins. Co., 224 W. Va. 544,550,687 S.E.2d 123, 129 (2009) ("This Court has long 

7 Nine months after the Circuit Court granted summary judgment against him, the Petitioner attempted to 
intervene "on behalf of the Estate of Deborah Cortez" to raise this new theory interpreting the Trust. The Circuit 
Court correctly declined to allow ''the Estate" to intervene. The Circuit Court's reasoning is discussed in more detail 
in Section V, subsection F, below. 
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held that theories raised for the first time on appeal are not considered."). The Petitioner's 

argument is also frivolous because it would not only vitiate the clear intent of the settlors as 

expressed in the Trust instrument, but also violate basic tenets of will and trust construction. 

The Petitioner points to a single sentence in Article VIII, Section A of the Trust that he 

claims invalidates the remaining provisions of the Trust instrument. Article VIII, Section A sets 

forth a list of"specific distributions ofcash," including a one-time distribution to Deborah Cortez: 

2. Cash Distribution to Deborah. Ifour daughter, DEBORAH A. 
CORTEZ, is living and legally competent, the trustee shall distribute 
to her the sum of fifty thousand dollars $50,000.00, as soon as 
practicable after the death of the second one ofus to die. IfDeborah 
is not then living or is not legally competent, then this gift shall 
lapse, and the remainder of the trust estate shall be administered as 
provided below. 

App. at 112. The Petitioner argues that the second sentence of this paragraph dictates that "none 

of the successive administrative steps [under Article VIII] are to be taken unless Deborah was 

either deceased or incompetent at the time ofher second parent's death." Pet'r Br. at 32. Because 

Deborah was living and competent when Mrs. Short died, the Petitioner asks this Court to ignore 

the remainder of Article VIII and find that "the Trust fails to dispose of the entire estate." Pet'r 

Br. at 33. The Petitioner also asks this Court to find that Mrs. Short's will "fails to dispose of the 

entire estate of Phyllis Short" because it devises her residuary estate back to a lapsed Trust. Pet'r 

Br. at 33. The Petitioner therefore asks this Court to invalidate Mrs. Shorts' entire estate plan, and 

find that the Trust assets passed through intestacy to Deborah Short upon Mrs. Short's death, and 

ultimately to him as "the sole heir of the Estate of Deborah Cortez." 

The Petitioner's argument is absurd, and twists an isolated phrase from one sentence ofthe 

Trust instrument in a way that defeats the clear intent and entire estate plan of the settlors: 

To determine the settlors' intent, the court should construe the 
instrument as a whole, taking into account the general dispositional 
scheme. It should not resort to isolated words and phrases. This is 
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true whether the court is interpreting the entire trust or only a 
specific clause. 

Vigliani v. Bank ofAmerica, N.A., 189 So.3d 214,219 (Fla. 2d DCA 2016) (internal citations and 

quotations omitted) (emphasis added). "Furthermore, a court must construe a [trust instrument] in 

a manner that accords with reason and probability; and avoid an absurd construction." Ospina-

Baraya v. Heiligers, 909 So.2d 465, 472 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).8 By its temls, the second sentence 

of Article VIII, Section A.2 of the Trust instrument pertains solely to whether the "specific 

distribution of cash" to Deborah under that paragraph lapses, and was not a "condition" to 

administering the Trust under the remaining sections. Rather, as stated in Section S, the only 

"condition" for administering the Trust as a "Continuing Trust for Deborah" was that she be "living 

on the date of the death ofthe second one ofus to die." App. at 112. Similarly, as stated in Section 

C, the only "condition" for the "Alternate Distribution" to the heirs at law of Mr. and Mrs. Short 

was that "assets of the trust remain undistributed upon Deborah's death, or if she fails to survive 

us." App. at 113. The overall distributional scheme of the Trust is obvious: under Article VIII, 

after the trustee makes certain "specified distributions of cash" under Section A, if Deborah 

survived the settlors then the Trust assets were to be administered under Section B as a "Continuing 

Trust for Deborah" during her life, and upon her death any remaining assets were to be distributed 

under Section C to Respondent Barry and others as the heirs at law ofMr. and Mrs. Short. 

The Petitioner's argument is also in direct conflict with other language in the Trust 

instrument. "If the provisions of a contract are unambiguous, courts may not violate the clear 

meaning of the words in order to create an ambiguity, and certainly may not rewrite the contract." 

Florida Recycling Services, Inc. v. Greater Orlando Auto Auction, Inc., 898 So.2d 129, 131 

8 "The general rules of construction of written instruments apply to the construction of trust instruments." 
Watson v. St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co., 146 So.2d 383,385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). 
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(Fla. 5th DCA 2005). The Petitioner claims that Article VIII, Sections B-D do not apply "unless 

Deborah was either deceased or incompetent," Pet'r Br. at 32, but Section B.l states that the trustee 

"shall distribute to her, or on her behalf if she becomes incapacitated," the net income of the 

continuing trust established under that section. App. at 112 (emphasis added). Similarly, 

Section B.2 gave Deborah the annual right to "withdraw up to $25,000.00 of the principal of the 

trust," which she would be unable to do if she was incompetent. Id. In other words, Section B 

was not dependent on Deborah's competency - the settlors intended to create a "Continuing Trust 

for Deborah" under that section so long as she was "living on the date of the death of the second 

one ofus to die." Reading the Trust instrument as the Petitioner suggests would require the Court 

to create an ambiguity in the document, which is impermissible. 

Finally, the Petitioner's argument also violates basic tenets of construction. "It is initially 

presumed that a testator intended to dispose of his entire estate." In re Roulston's Estate, 142 

So.2d 107, 110 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962).9 "Intestacies are not favored in construing wills. If the terms 

ofa will are such as to permit two constructions, one of which results in intestacy and the other of 

which leads to a valid testamentary disposition, the construction is preferred which will prevent 

intestacy." In re Gregory's Estate, 70 So.2d 903, 907 (Fla. 1954).10 The same constructional 

preference applies to trust instruments. See 90 C.J.S. Trusts § 207 ("[T]he rules of construction 

used with respect to wills apply to the construction oftrust agreements. "). Cf Restatement (Third) 

ofProperty (Wills & Don. Trans.) § 11.3 cmt. i (2003) ("All other things being equal, most donors 

would want their donative documents to be as effective as possible."). The Petitioner is not only 

9 Cj Syl. Pt. 5, Painter v. Coleman, 211 W. Va. 451,566 S.E.2d 588 (2002) ("Where a will is made it is 
presumed that the testator intended to dispose of his whole estate, and such presumption should prevail unless the 
contrary shall plainly appear."). 

10 Syl. Pt. 3, Painter v. Coleman, 211 W. Va. 451, 566 S.E.2d 588 (2002) ("The law favors testacy over 
intestacy."). 
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asking this Court to adopt a construction of the Trust instrument that "fails to dispose of the entire 

[Trust] estate," he is also asking the Court to adopt a construction of Mrs. Short's will that "fails 

to dispose of the entire estate ofPhyllis Short." Pet'r Br. at 33. Again, it is the duty of this Court 

to uphold a construction ofboth instruments that avoids an absurd result. Clearly, the settlors did 

not intend to execute a Trust and wills that "fail to dispose oftheir entire estate." 

5. 	 The Petitioner's claims to the Trust are also barred by res judicata. On 
December 19, 2016, the Texas court ruled that the Petitioner, in both his 
personal and representative capacities, is not a beneficiary ofthe Trust. Under 
Texas law, that court's ruling is f'mal despite the taking of an appeal, and 
entitled to full faith and credit from this Court. 

In any event, at this point the Petitioner's various misinterpretations of the Trust are 

irrelevant. Not only has the Circuit Court already declared that the Petitioner has absolutely no 

interest in the Trust, but the Texas probate court has done so as well. On December 19,2016, the 

Texas court also granted summary judgment against the Petitioner, concluding as a matter oflaw 

that Mateo Cortez and "the Estate of Deborah Cortez" have zero interest in the Trust, and 

dismissing "any and all claims that Mateo Cortez, in his individual capacity or in his capacity as 

personal representative ofthe Estate ofDeborah Cortez, has to any assets ofThe William D. Short 

and Phyllis D. Short Revocable Living Trust (the "Trust")." App. at 1957-58. Although a trial 

court decision in West Virginia is not resjudicata until appellate proceedings have been exhausted, 

the same is not true in Texas. Under Texas law, the Texas probate court's decree is final and 

binding, entitled to full faith and credit from this Court, and constitutes res judicata barring the 

Petitioner's claims to the Trust and this appeal. 

"By virtue of the full faith and credit clause of the Constitution of the United States, a 

judgment of a court ofanother state has the same force and effect in this State as it has in the state 

in which it was pronounced." Syl. Pt. 3, State ex reI. Lynn v. Eddy, 152 W. Va. 345, 163 S.E.2d 

472 (1968). In Texas: 
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res judicata precludes relitigation of claims that have been finally 
adjudicated, or that arise out of the same subject matter and that 
could have been litigated in the prior action. It requires proof of the 
following elements: (1) a prior final judgment on the merits by a 
court of competent jurisdiction; (2) identity of parties or those in 
privity with them; and (3) a second action based on the same claims 
as were raised or could have been raised in the first action. 

Amstadt v. Us. Brass Corp., 919 S.W.2d 644, 652 (Tex. 1996) (internal citations omitted). "A 

judgment is final for the purposes of issue and claim preclusion despite the taking of an appeal 

unless what is called an appeal actually consists ofa trial de novo." Scurlock Oil Co. v. Smithwick, 

724 S.W.2d 1, 6 (Tex. 1986).11 Pursuant to Scurlock, a Texas probate court's judgment declaring 

the beneficiaries ofa trust is res judicata even ifan appeal is taken. See Kuhns v. Bank One, Texas, 

NA., No. 03-98-00177-CV, 1999 WL 699813, at *3 (Tex. Ct. App. 1999) (not designated for 

publication) ("Although the probate court's declaratory judgment was subject to a de novo review 

on appeal, that review did not constitute a trial de novo. The probate court's judgment was final 

for res judicata purposes ...."). 

This Court must give full faith and credit to the Texas probate court's December 19,2016 

order and judgment. First, the Texas court entered a final judgment on the merits ofthe Petitioner's 

claims, dismissing "any and all claims that Mateo Cortez, in his individual capacity or in his 

capacity as personal representative of the Estate of Deborah Cortez, has to any assets of The 

William D. Short and Phyllis D. Short Revocable Living Trust (the "Trust"), other than his claim 

for undistributed income from the Trust during the life of Deborah Cortez." App. at 1957-58. 

Although the Petitioner appealed that decision, the fact of an appeal does not affect the finality of 

the decision for purposes of res judicata. Second, the Petitioner cannot dispute he was a party to 

11 Res judicata is the generic tenn for the related concepts of issue and claim preclusion. See Barr v. 
Resolution Trust Corp. ex rei. Sunbelt Federal Sav., 837 S.W.2d 627,628 (Tex. 1992). 
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the Texas case: the Trustee sued the Petitioner in his individual capacity, App. at 81, and he filed 

his intervention claims in his capacity "as Representative of the Estate of Deborah Cortez." App. 

at 92. Third, the Petitioner cannot deny that the Texas court's judgment was based on the same 

claims he raised or could have raised here because the court granted judgment on his intervention 

claim that he was entitled to the Trust assets. The Texas court's December 19, 2016 order and 

judgment satisfies all of the elements ofres judicata under Texas law, and therefore must be given 

full faith and credit by this Court. Accordingly, the Petitioner's claims before this Court are barred 

by res judicata, and this Court should affIrm the Circuit Court's judgment and dismiss this appeal. 

B. 	 THE TEXAS COURT IS NOT EXERCISING EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION 
OVER THE TRUST. THE TRUSTEE'S LAWSIDT IN TEXAS WAS AN IN 
PERSONAM TORT ACTION FOR DAMAGES, AND NOT AN ACTION TO 
ADMINISTER THE TRUST. THE PETITIONER'S DEFENSE TO THE 
TRUSTEE'S TORT CLAIMS DID NOT CONVERT THE PROCEEDINGS IN 
TEXAS INTO A QUASIINREMACTION TO ADMINISTER THE TRUST. 

The Petitioner primarily argues that the Circuit Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction 

under Princess Lida o/Thurn & Taxis v. Thompson, which applies to parallel in rem or quasi in 

rem proceedings where two courts are attempting to exercise control over the same propeliy. 305 

U.S. 456,466 (1939). Pet'r Br. at 12-19. The Petitioner lacks standing to object to the Trustee's 

decision to file suit in West Virginia because he clearly has no interest in the Trust or these 

proceedings. Restatement (Third) ofTrusts § 94 (2012) ("A suit against a trustee ofa private trust 

to enjoin or redress a breach oftrust or otherwise to enforce the trust may be maintained only by a

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